IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COREY DOUGLAS WHEATON,

Petitioner,

v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Case No. 97,137

Respondent.___/

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

GLENNA JOYCE REEVES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0231061 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, COREY DOUGLAS WHEATON, was the defendant in the circuit court in Duval County and the appellant in the First District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecuting authority and appellee in the courts below. The Petitioner will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner" or by his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of five volumes: The record will be referred to with the volume number in roman numerals followed by the page number, both in parentheses. The District Court's opinion is attached as an appendix to this brief and will referred to as "APP."

CERTIFICATE OF FONTS

Pursuant to the Court's Administrative Order dated July 13, 1998, this brief has been printed in 12 point Courier New, a font that is not proportionately spaced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

An Information charged that Wheaton, on July 9, 1997, committed an armed robbery of money belonging to SunTrust Bank of North Florida from the person or custody of Donna Tew (Count I), and charged Wheaton with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (Count II)(I-9-10).

Prior to trial, the State filed notices of intent to have Wheaton sentenced as a violent career criminal (I-17), and as a Prison Releasee Reoffender (I-18). Wheaton opposed the sentencing as a prison releasee reoffender arguing that the act is unconstitutional as a violation of separation of powers. (I-187-188). Wheaton was sentenced to life in prison as a violent career criminal and a prison release re-offender. (I-191-192).

Wheaton timely appealed to the First District Court of Appeal. (I-123). On appeal, he argued that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act ("Act"), section 775.082, Fla. Stat. (1997), was facially unconstitutional as a violation of due process and separation of powers. The District Court rejected Wheaton' argument and affirmed his sentence. As in <u>Woods v. State</u>, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), the court certified to this Court the following question as one of great public importance:

> DOES THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER PUNISHMENT ACT, CODIFIED AS SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

(Appendix).

Wheaton had also asserted that he was entitled to a new trial because the trial court had unduly restricted his access to his attorney during a court recess. Although recognizing that the restriction of consultation was error, the District Court found the error harmless "in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt". (App).

Wheaton timely filed a Notice to Invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. This Court's order of December 13, 1999, indicated that jurisdiction will be determined upon consideration of the merits briefs. Wheaton's Initial Brief on the Merits follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Issue I, petitioner asserts the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act is unconstitutional. The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act authorizes the State Attorney to apply statutory criteria in deciding when to seek mandatory sentencing for a person convicted of qualifying offenses. The criteria themselves are vague and include some factors traditionally exercised by courts in sentencing, namely considering the wishes of the victim and the existance of extenuating circumstances. The Act, however, prevents the sentencing judge from imposing any sentence except the mandatory term if the state attorney has filed a notice to invoke the Act.

As written, the Act violates separation of powers in the Florida Constitution by empowering the state attorney to make decisions that encroach upon the inherent sentencing authority of the courts. The state attorney's executive branch function to select the charge or charges does not include the additional discretion to apply statutory sentencing criteria and thereby preclude the court from evaluating those same criteria.

While the legislature may enact mandatory sentences, leaving no discretion to the courts, and state attorneys may properly choose to file charges under those statutes, the legislature may not delegate to the state attorney the special discretion to select both the statutory crime, and to bind the court to a sentence not

mandated by the legislature. That is, <u>when sentencing discretion</u> <u>is allowed by the legislature</u>, the court must not be forclosed from exercising any discretion.

The First District Court in this case, along with the Third and Fifth Districts, have upheld the Act on the grounds that the legislature may pass a mandatory sentencing law, and that the prosecutor has broad discretion in selecting the charge. Those courts found no separation of powers violation, and no way to interpret the Act as affording any discretion to the court.

The Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal have not ruled the Act unconstitutional. Those courts have interpreted the Act as not divesting the court from exercising discretion to apply the statutory exceptions even if the state attorney files the notice after (impliedly) rejecting those exceptions.

The petitioner's argument is alternative: Either the court retains final sentencing authority as in the habitual offender and other enhancement acts, as interpreted by the Second and Fourth Districts; or, if the courts are bound by the state attorney's notice and have no discretion, as held by the First, Third and Fifth Districts, the Act violates separation of powers.

In Issue II, petitioner contends the District Court applied an erroneous harmless error analysis in determining that the restriction of consultation with counsel was not reversible error.

Decisions of this court iterate that <u>DiGuilio¹</u> is the proper test to be applied. <u>Goodwin v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S583 (Fla. December 16, 1999). Under that test, it can not be said beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the verdict. Accordingly, a new trial must be awarded.

¹ <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT, SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), DELEGATES JUDICIAL SENTENCING POWER TO THE STATE ATTORNEY, IN VIOLATION OF THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE, ARTICLE II, SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Florida's Constitution, Article II, Section 3, divides the powers of state government into legislative, executive, and judicial branches and says that "No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein". The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), as interpreted by the district court in <u>Woods v. State</u>,² as well as the present case, violates that provision because it delegates legislative authority to establish penalties for crimes and judicial authority to impose sentences to the state attorney as an official of the executive branch.

The Act, now designated as Section 775.082(9), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), includes the following relevant portions:

(a)1. "Prison releasee reoffender" means any defendant who commits, or attempts to commit: [specified or described violent felonies]

² 740 So.2d 20(Fla. 1st DCA 1999). Similar rulings were issued by the Third and Fifth District Courts of Appeal. <u>McKnight v. State</u>, 727 So.2d 314 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999); <u>Speed v.</u> <u>State</u>, 732 So.2d 17 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999).

* * * * *

within 3 years of being released from a state correctional facility operated by the Department of Corrections or a private vendor.

2. If the state attorney determines that a defendant is a prison releasee reoffender as defined in subparagraph 1., the state attorney may seek to have the court sentence the defendant as a prison releasee reoffender. Upon proof from the state attorney that establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that a defendant is a prison releasee reoffender as defined in this section, such defendant is not eligible for sentencing under the sentencing guidelines and must be sentenced as follows:

a. For a felony punishable by life, by a term of imprisonment for life;

b. For a felony of the first degree, by a term of imprisonment of 30 years;

c. For a felony of the second degree, by a term of imprisonment of 15 years; and

d. For a felony of the third degree, by a term of imprisonment of 5 years.

(b) A person sentenced under paragraph (a) shall be released only by expiration of sentence and shall not be eligible for parole, control release, or any form of early release. Any person sentenced under paragraph (a) must serve 100 percent of the court-imposed sentence.

(c) Nothing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law. (Emphasis added).

The following portion of the Act describes the criteria for exempting persons from the otherwise mandatory sentence:

(d)1. It is the intent of the Legislature that offenders previously released from prison who meet the criteria in paragraph (a) be punished to the fullest extent of the law and as provided in this subsection, unless any of the following circumstances exist:

a. The prosecuting attorney does not have sufficient evidence to prove the highest charge available;

b. The testimony of a material witness cannot be obtained;

<u>c. The victim does not want the offender</u> to receive the mandatory prison sentence and provides a written statement to that effect; or

<u>d. Other extenuating circumstances exist</u> which preclude the just prosecution of the <u>offender</u>. (Emphasis added).

The state attorney has the discretion (may seek) to invoke the sentencing sanctions by evaluating subjective criteria; if so opted by the state attorney the court is required to (must) impose the maximum sentence. The rejection of statutory exceptions by the prosecutor divests the trial judge of any sentencing discretion. This unique delegation of discretion to the executive branch displacing the sentencing power inherently vested in the judicial branch conflicts with separation of powers because, as will be shown, when <u>sentencing</u> discretion is statutorily authorized, the judiciary must have at least a share of that discretion.

The Act was upheld against separation of powers challenge in <u>Woods</u> because "decisions whether and how to prosecute one accused of a crime and whether to seek enhanced punishment pursuant to law rest within the sphere of responsibility relegated to the

executive, and the state attorneys possess complete discretion with regard thereto." Woods v. State,740 So.2d at 23.

Since Florida's constitution expressly limits persons belonging to one branch from exercising any powers of another branch,³ the question certified first requires an interpretation of what powers the Act allocates or denies to which branch.

The <u>Woods</u> court found no ambiguity requiring interpretation, saying "the legislature's rather clearly expressed intent was to remove substantially all sentencing discretion from trial judges in cases where the prosecutor elects to seek enhanced sentencing pursuant to the Act and proves the defendant's eligibility." <u>Ibid</u>. Further, the district court held that the discretion

It should be noted that Article II, Section 3, Florida Constitution, contrary to the Constitutions of the United States and the State of Washington, does by its second sentence contain an express limitation upon the exercise by a member of one branch of any powers appertaining to either of the other branches of government.

* * * * *

Regardless of the criticism of the courts' application of the doctrine, we nevertheless conclude that it represents a recognition of the express limitation contained in the second sentence of Article II, Section 3 of our Constitution. Under the fundamental document adopted and several times ratified by the citizens of this State, the legislature is not free to redelegate to an administrative body so much of its lawmaking power as it may deem expedient. And that is at the crux of the issue before us.

³ <u>See</u>, <u>Askew v. Cross Key Waterways</u>, 372 So.2d 913, 924 (Fla. 1978):

afforded by subparagraph (8)(d)1. "was intended to extend only to the prosecutor, and not to the trial court." <u>Ibid</u>.

The power at issue is choosing among sentencing options. The district court acknowledged that in Florida "the plenary power to prescribe the punishment for criminal offenses lies with the legislature, not the courts." <u>Ibid</u>. That analysis is accurate but incomplete, because the legislature's plenary power to <u>prescribe</u> punishment disables not only the courts, but the executive as well. Therein lies the flaw in the Act and the lower court's interpretation of it.

To clarify the argument here, it is not that the legislature is prohibited from enacting a mandatory or minimum mandatory sentence. Rather the argument is that the legislature cannot delegate to the state attorney, through vague standards, the discretion to choose <u>both the charge and the penalty</u> and thereby prohibit the court from performing its inherent judicial function of imposing sentence.

Obviously the legislature may lawfully enact mandatory sentences. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>O'Donnell v. State</u>, 326 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1975) (Thirty-year minimum mandatory sentence for kidnaping is constitutional); <u>Owens v. State</u>, 316 So.2d 537 (Fla. 1975) (Upholding minimum mandatory 25 year sentence for capital felony); <u>State v. Sesler</u>, 386 So.2d 293 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980)(Legislature was

authorized to enact 3-year mandatory minimum for possession of firearm).

By the same token, there is no dispute that the state attorney enjoys virtually unlimited discretion to make charging decisions. <u>State v. Bloom</u>, 497 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1986)(Under Art. II, Sec. 3 of Florida's constitution the decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility; a court has no authority to hold pretrial that a capital case does not qualify for the death penalty); <u>Young v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1997)("[T]he decision to prosecute a defendant as an habitual offender is a prosecutorial function to be initiated at the prosecutor's discretion and not by the court."); <u>State v. Jogan</u>, 388 So.2d 322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980)(The decision to prosecute or nolle pros pretrial is vested solely in the state attorney).

The power to impose sentence belongs to the judicial branch. "[J]udges have traditionally had the discretion to impose any sentences within the maximum or minimum limits prescribed by the legislature." <u>Smith v. State</u>, 537 So.2d 982, 985, 986 (Fla. 1989). Directly or by implication, Florida courts have held that sentencing discretion within limits set by law is a judicial function that cannot be totally delegated to the executive branch.

In <u>State v. Benitez</u>, 395 So.2d 514 (Fla. 1981), the court reviewed Section 893.135, a drug trafficking statute providing severe mandatory minimum sentences but with an escape valve

permitting the court to reduce or suspend a sentence if the state attorney initiated a request for leniency based on the defendant's cooperation with law enforcement. The defendants contended that the law "usurps the sentencing function from the judiciary and assigns it to the executive branch, since [its] benefits ... are triggered by the initiative of the state attorney." <u>Id</u>. at 519. Rejecting that argument and finding the statute did not encroach on judicial power the court said:

> Under the statute, the ultimate decision on sentencing resides with the judge who must rule on the motion for reduction or suspension of sentence. "So long as a statute does not wrest from courts the <u>final</u> discretion to impose sentence, it does not infringe upon the constitutional division of responsibilities." <u>People v. Eason</u>, 40 N.Y. 297, 301, 386 N.Y.S. 673, 676, 353 N.E. 2d 587, 589 (1976)(Emphasis in original).

<u>Ibid</u>.

This court assumed, therefore, that had the statute divested the court of the "final discretion" to impose sentence it would have violated separation of powers, an implicit recognition that sentencing is an inherent function of the courts.

This court made an identical assumption when the habitual offender law, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, was attacked on separation of powers grounds in <u>Seabrook v. State</u>, 629 So.2d 129, 130 (Fla. 1993), saying that

...the trial judge has the discretion not to sentence a defendant as a habitual felony offender. <u>Therefore, petitioner's contention</u> that the statute violated the doctrine of separation of powers because it deprived trial judges of such discretion necessarily fails. (Emphasis added).

The Third District Court held the same view regarding the mandatory sentencing provisions of the violent career criminal act, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, saying that it did not violate separation of powers because the trial judge retained discretion to find that such sentencing was not necessary for protection of the public. <u>State v. Meyers</u>, 708 So.2d 661 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998). In the same vein the First District Court said in <u>London v. State</u>, 623 So.2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), that "Although the state attorney may suggest that a defendant be classified as a habitual offender, only the judiciary decides whether to classify and sentence the defendant as a habitual offender."

The foundation for judicial, as opposed to executive, discretion in sentencing was well described by Justice Scalia, albeit in a dissenting opinion:

Trial judges could be given the power	to
determine what factors justify a greater	or
lesser sentence within the statutor	<u>cily</u>
prescribed limits because that was ancil?	Lary
to their exercise of the judicial power	of
pronouncing sentence upon individ	lual
defendants. (Emphasis added).	

<u>Mistretta v. United States</u>, 488 U.S. 361, 417-418 (1989)(Scalia, J., dissenting).

By passing the Act the legislature crossed the line dividing the executive from the judiciary. By virtue of the discretion improperly given to the state attorney, the courts are left without a voice at sentencing. This court is authorized to remedy that exclusion.

In <u>Walker v. Bentley</u>, 678 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1996), this court nullified legislation that took away the circuit court's power to punish indirect criminal contempt involving domestic violence injunctions. In language which applies here the court said that any legislation which "purports to do away with the inherent power of contempt directly affects a separate and distinct function of the judicial branch, and, as such, violates the separation of powers doctrine...." <u>Id</u>. at 1267. Sentencing, like contempt, is a "separate and distinct function of the judicial branch" and should be accorded the same protection.

Authority to perform judicial functions cannot be delegated. <u>In re Alkire's Estate</u>, 198 So. 475, 482, 144 Fla. 606, 623 (1940) (Supplemental opinion):

The judicial power[s] in the several courts vested by [former] Section 1, Article V, ... are not delegable and cannot be abdicated in whole or in part by the courts. (Emphasis added.)

More specifically, the legislature has no authority to delegate to the executive branch an inherent judicial power. <u>Accord</u>, <u>Gough v. State ex rel. Sauls</u>, 55 So.2d 111, 116 (Fla. 1951)(The legislature was without authority to confer on the Avon

Park City Council the judicial power to determine the legality or validity of votes cast in a municipal election).

Applying that principle here, as construed in <u>Woods</u>, the Act wrongly assigns to the state attorney the sole authority to make factual findings regarding exemptions which thereafter deprive a court of sentencing discretion. Stated differently, the legislature exceeded its authority by giving the executive branch exclusive control of decisions inherent in the judicial branch.

According to the First,³ Third,⁴ and Fifth Districts,⁵ the Act limits the trial court to determining whether a qualifying substantive law has been violated (after trial or plea) and whether the offense was committed within 3 years of release from a state correctional institution. Beyond that, the Act is said to bind the court to the choice made by the state attorney. While the legislature could have imposed a mandatory prison term, as it did with firearms or capital felonies, or left the final decision to the court, as with habitual offender and career criminal laws, the Act unconstitutionally gave the state attorney the special discretion to strip the court of its inherent power to sentence. That feature, as far as petitioner has discovered, distinguishes the Act from all other sentencing schemes in Florida.

- ³ <u>Woods v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, note 2.
- ⁴ <u>McKnight v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, note 2.
- ⁵ <u>Speed v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, note 2.

Interestingly, the preamble to the Act⁶ gives no hint of exceptions and seemingly portends mandatory sentences for all releasee offenders:

> WHEREAS, the Legislature finds that the best deterrent to prevent prison releasees from committing future crimes is to require that <u>any releasee who commits new serious</u> <u>felonies must be sentenced to the maximum term</u> <u>of incarceration allowed by law, and must</u> <u>serve 100 percent of the court-imposed</u> <u>sentence (Emphasis added.)</u>

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