# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COREY DOUGLAS WHEATON,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 97,137

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.\_\_\_/

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

- 36 -

(1999 ed.)<sup>6</sup> fortuitously opened to this section on the bench and could have immediately ruled that petitioner had indeed opened the door, no recess would have been required. Counsel would not have been able to consult with petitioner in either of sceniorios either. Basically, petitioner's claim is that the trial court erred by having Westlaw in his chambers, not within arms reach on the bench.

Furthermore, the recess in this case was called for a specific reason - to research the issue of whether the petitioner had opened the door to the admission of the nature and details of his prior convictions by his testimony on direct. The majority of state and federal cases discussing the issue of a prohibition on consultion during a recess deal with a lunch or noon break, not a 15 minute research recess. Daniel A. Klein, Annotation, Trial Court's Order That Accused and His Attorney Not Communicate During Recess in Trial as Reversible Error under Sixth Amendment Guaranty of Right to Counsel, 95 A.L.R. FED. 601 (1989). The trial court called a 15 minute recess for the limited and specific purpose of researching a legal issue. When a recess is called for a special purpose, petitioner's right to counsel is limited to whatever that special purpose is. Otherwise, he is not entitled to a recess or consultation during that recess.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This footnote cites and discusses <u>Ashcraft v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 1374 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985)(holding that a defendant, who testifed on direct examination that he had never hurt anyone opened the door to questioning concerning the nature and details of prior rape), which is one of the cases that the trial court found using Westlaw. (T. Vol. IV 396).

Additionally, counsel needed this time to research this important issue not engage consultation with petitioner. It is one thing to observe, as this Court did in <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 1987), that had the consultation been allowed, defense counsel could have "advised, calmed, and reassured" his client, where a trial court has called a general recess, such a a lunch or noon recess. <u>Thompson</u>, 507 So.2d at 1075. But here, defense counsel should have been attempting to find a case which discussed whether a defendant opens the door when he qualified his direct testimony with the claim that he was not that type of person if he was not intoxicated.

Petitioner's reliance on Amos v. State, 618 So.2d 157 (Fla. 1993) and <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 507 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 1987), is misplaced. Neither Amos nor Thompson controls. In Amos v. State, 618 So.2d 157 (Fla. 1993), this Court held it was reversible error for trial court to prohibit defendant from speaking to his counsel during a <u>lunch</u> recess <u>between</u> the defendant's direct examination and prior to cross-examination. In Thompson v. State, 507 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 1987), this Court held that it was reversible error for a trial court to prohibit consultation during a brief reserach recess between direct and cross-examination. Thompson was convicted of grand theft and dealing in stolen property. During direct examination, Thompson answered "no" when asked by his lawyer if he had ever before been charged with theft, burglary, or dealing in stolen goods. In fact, Thompson had been arrested for theft and burglary while out on bond on the current charges. Thompson's

- 38 -

negative answer was given pursuant to the advice of defense counsel, who erroneously believed that the theft and burglary is arrest could not be the subject of impeachment on cross-examination because it had occurred subsequently, not "before" his arrest for the current offenses. Prior to cross-examination, the state obtained a 30 minute recess to research the proper method of impeaching Thompson with this subsequent arrest. During the recess, defense counsel requested the opportunity to consult with his client. The trial judge denied this request. This Court then explained that the district court correctly determined this to a denial of the right to counsel but applied an incorrect harmless error test to concluded that the error was harmless. The district court had used an overwhelming evidence of guilt test. However, this Court explained that the proper error test focuses on the effect of the error on the trier-of-fact. The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the If the appellate court cannot say beyond a reasonable verdict. doubt that the error did not affect the verdict, then the error is harmful.

In <u>Amos</u> and <u>Thompson</u>, a lunch recess was called <u>between</u> direct and cross. In both of these cases, counsel was prohibited from conferring with the defendant <u>before</u> cross-examination began. By contrast, here, defense counsel was prohibited from consulting with petitioner <u>during</u> cross-examination. When a recess is called <u>during</u> cross-examination, petitioner has no Sixth Amendment right

- 39 -

to consult with his counsel prior to answering the prosecutor's questions.

In Bova v. State, 410 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1982), this Court held that any prohibition on consulatation during any recess is error. During cross-examination, Bova expressed confusion and requested a ten minute recess. The trial court granted the request and admonished petitioner and defense counsel, over objection, that they could not consult during the short recess. Bova argued that that there is no meaningful distinction between an overnight recess, a two-hour lunch recess, and a ten-minute recess during cross-examination. The State argued that the denial of counsel was insignificant. This Court emphasized that the trial court has complete discretion in the granting of and duration of trial recesses. However, once the trial court grants a recess, a criminal defendant must be allowed access to counsel. The Bova Court found that while the trial court committed error, the error was harmless because the evidence of Bova's guilt was overwhelming and the brief restraint on consultation did not contribute to the jury's verdict.

However, <u>Bova</u> was decided prior to the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Perry</u> and therefore is no longer valid. The cases cited for support by the <u>Bova</u> Court are no longer valid. <u>United States v. Conway</u>, 632 F.2d 641 (5th Cir. 1980); <u>Jackson v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 420 F.2d 1202 (D.C.Cir.1979) (en banc); <u>United States v. Bryant</u>, 545 F.2d 1035 (6th Cir. 1976); <u>United States v.</u> <u>Allen</u>, 542 F.2d 630 (4th Cir. 1976); <u>People v. Noble</u>, 248 N.E.2d 96

- 40 -

(Ill. 1969); <u>Pendergraft v. State</u>, 191 So.2d 830 (Miss.1966); <u>Commonwealth v. Vivian</u>, 231 A.2d 301 (Penn. 1967). The federal circuits have changed their positions in light of <u>Perry</u>. Illinios has also changed its position. <u>People v. Knox</u>, 608 N.E.2d 659 (Ill. App. 1993)(holding a defendant was not denied right to assistance of counsel by admonition that he could not talk with his attorney regarding his testimony during overnight recess). Additionally, the <u>Bova</u> Court did not address the issue of the timing of the prohibition on consultation. Whether the recess occurs during direct or during cross-examination, is critical to the existence of a right to consultation.

Moreover, the recess here was called for a limited and specific purpose, *i.e.* to research a legal issue. When a recess is called for a specific purpose, defense counsel should be engaged in the specific purpose not consulting with his client. Thus, all of these cases are easilty distinguishable and petitioner had no right to consult with his counsel during his cross-examination under either the Sixth Amendment or the Florida Constitution.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>7</sup> The First District did not reject this argument on the Unfortunately, this argument was not made in the First merits. District. Counsel for the State, handling the case in the First District, improvidently conceded that a trial court prohibiting counsel from consulting with his client during a research recess while cross-examination was in progress was error under Florida law. It is not. The State is not bound by its concession. Cf. Boyett v. State, 688 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1996)(acknowledging that we had incorrectly accepted the State's concession of error). Judicial estoppel, sometimes called the "doctrine against the assertion of inconsistent positions," seeks to prevent a party from asserting a <u>factual</u> position inconsistent with one that he has previously asserted in the same or in a previous proceeding. Rand G. BOYERS, PRECLUDING INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS: THE DOCTRINE OF JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL,

80 Nw. U. L. REV. 1244 (1986). The doctrine is designed to prevent a party from playing "fast and loose" with the facts. The doctrine requires a showing that the party asserted the prior inconsistent position in bad faith. Ryan Operations G.P. v. Santiam-Midwest Lumber Co., 81 F.3d 355, 361 (3rd Cir. 1996)(court will only apply judicial estoppel upon a showing of bad faith); Total Petroleum, Inc. v. Davis, 822 F.2d 734 (8th Cir. 1987)(holding that the doctrine only applies to deliberate inconsistencies that are "tantamount to a knowing misrepresentation to or even fraud on the court."); Chaveriat v. Williams Pipe Line Co., 11 F.3d 1420, 1428 (7th Cir. 1993); <u>Konstantinidis v. Chen</u>, 626 F. 2d 933, 939 (D.C.Cir. 1980). The policy underlying the doctrine, is simple and sound: a party who commits perjury should be forced to eat his words. BOYERS, supra, at 1254. However, the doctrine of judicial estoppel does not apply because the doctrine applies solely to factual positions. BOYERS, supra, at 1262. Legal argument are not facts, they are legal opinions. "Opinions, by nature, can never truly be inconsistent." BOYERS, supra, at 1262 n. 132. The doctrine, which is designed to protect the judicial system from parties lying to the court about the particular facts of a case, simply does not apply to legal arguments. Moreover, Assistant Attorney Generals do not determine the validity of convictions or the criminal laws of Florida, appellate courts do. Furthermore, it is an insult to the trial judge to accept concessions from Assistant Attorney Generals without the appellate court independently reviewing the issue. As Learned Hand observed: "It's bad enough to have the Supreme Court reverse you, but I will be damned if I will be reversed by some Solicitor General." David M. Rosenzweig, Confession of Error in the Supreme Court by the Solicitor General, 82 GEO. L.J. 2079 n.1 (1994). Concessions of error are in fact meaningless. Young v. United States, 315 U.S. 257, 258, 62 S.Ct. 510, 86 L.Ed. 832 (1942)(noting that concessions of error do not "relieve this Court of the performance of the judicial function" because "our judgments are precedents" and "the proper administration of the criminal law cannot be left merely to the stipulation of parties."). Indeed, courts cause havoc by accepting concessions of error thoughtlessly. Boyett v. State, 688 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1996)(acknowledging that it "was incorrect for us to accept the state's concession of error" in Coney). Thus, the State can argue that petitioner had no right to counsel in the supreme court even though the State conceded error under state law in the First District.

## Harmless Error

The error if any was harmless beyong any doubt. Petitioner seems to argue the because the error somehow impacted his credibility, the error was harmful per se. It was his testifying that put his crebility at issue, not any trial error. And while the state agrees that petitioner's credibility was crucial to his voluntary intoxication defense, this observation is irrelevant. What affected the jury's determination of petitioner's credibility was his misleading testimony on direct, his dissemnation on cross and his eleven prior convictions. Petitioner testified on direct that he was not the type of person who would hurt anyone when his prior convictions for aggravated assault belie this claim. During cross-examination, petitioner responded that he did not remember the prior offenses and he did not know whether he was addicted to crack at the time of the prior offenses. (T. Vol. IV 405-408). This incredible testimony is what affected the jury's verdict. The jury also heard petitioner admit that he had been convicted previously of nine felonies and two crimes involving dishonesty. (T. Vol. IV 411).

More importantly, the jury was excused during this entire time. (T. Vol. IV 387, 396,405). The jury did not hear the trial court's ruling prohibiting defense counsel consulting his client during the 15 minute recess. Thus, unlike <u>Thompson</u>, there was <u>no</u> possibility of this ruling effecting the jury's perception of petitioner's credibility. There is one way and one way only that the prohibition on consultation could have affected petitioner's

- 43 -

testimony on cross-examination and therefore, the jury's verdict and that is if counsel intended to coach petitioner on what to say regarding misleading direct testimony and/or how to handle the details of his prior convictions. Such coaching is improper.

In Thompson v. State, 507 So.2d 1074 (Fla. 1987), this Court held that the prohibition on consultation was not harmless. This Court observed that Thompson's credibility was a crucial issue and concluded that Thompson was denied the "guidance" and support of his attorney when he needed it most, *i.e.*, when the state was preparing for a major attack on his credibility. This denial left Thompson nervous, confused, and may have contributed to his performance on cross-examination. This Court concluded that it was not in a position to say with any certainty whether consultation would have made any difference. The Thompson court then speculated that if consultation had been allowed, defense counsel could have advised, calmed, and reassured Thompson without violating the ethical rule against coaching witnesses. This Court explained that because of the possible effect of this ruling on the perception of Thompson's credibility and the importance of his credibility to his theory of defense, it cannot be said that there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the jury verdict and therfore, this Court concluded that the was harmful.

The harmless error anaylsis of <u>Thompson</u>, while applying the correct error test, is faulty in its reasoning. How does one provide <u>guidance</u> and <u>advice</u> without coaching? While the defendant may need the support of his attorney most when the state is

- 44 -

preparing for a major attack on his credibility, he is not constitutionally entitled to any support. The purpose of crossexamination is to make the defendant nervous and confused. Most importantly, Thompson is factually distinguishable. It seems from this Court's statement, i.e. the possible effect of this ruling on the perception of Thompson's credibility, that the jury heard the trial court's admonition to Thompson not the consult with his attorney. By contrast, here, the jury never heard the trial court's admonition. Juries are not affected by comments they never heard.

Petitioner claims, relying on Thompson and Amos, that the First District applied an incorrect harmless error test. The First District in its opinion stated that in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt, the error was harmless. However, just as a trial court may be right for the wrong reason, so may an intermediate appellate court. Cf. Caso v. State, 524 So.2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1988)(holding that a trial court's decision will be affirmed even when based on erroneous reasoning); Dade County School Board v. Radio Station Wgba, City of Miami, Susquehanna Pfaltzgraff and Three Kings Parade, Inc., 731 So. 2d 638, 645 (Fla. 1999)(referring to this principle as the "tipsy coachman" rule). It is the appellate court's decision, not its reasoning or which error test it employed, that is reviewed on appeal. All that matters is that the First District was correct - the error was harmless.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The State acknowledges that this harmless error argument was also not presented to the First District. The harmless error

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